1980

United American Life Insurance Company, A Corporation v. Zions First National Bank, A National Association, Franklin D. Johnson And Kathleen Johnson, His Wife; Glendon E. Johnson And Bobette Johnson, His Wife; Clifton I. Johnson; Johnson Land Company, A Partnership; And Bar 70 Ranches, Inc., A Nevada Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an action to compel Zions First National Bank to Reconvey a Trust Deed on unimproved land in Grand County, Utah, and to permanently enjoin the bank from proceeding with a Trustee's Sale under the terms of the aforesaid Trust Deed.

Title Insurance Agency of Utah, acting as agent for Plaintiff and Appellant, United American Life, paid to Zions First National Bank the sum of \$50,000, for a Reconveyance

of a Trust Deed on the above lands in Grand County, Utah. The payment was made by Title Insurance Agency's voucher-check which contained the following legend:

Payment in full of Trust Deed
dated November 19, 1968,
executed by Bar 70 Ranches,
Inc., recorded November 20,
1968, as Entry No. _____,
in Book 170, pages 190-200.

No prior contractual duty or privity had ever existed between Zions First National Bank and United American Life. The check was accepted and retained by the bank, however, it refused and now refuses to execute and record a proper Reconveyance.

Zions First National Bank, Respondent herein, denies that it, in any way, agreed to a Reconveyance and further denies that the facts and circumstances of the case give rise to any duty on its part to Reconvey.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The case was tried to a court sitting without a jury. The court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Judgment against Plaintiff and Appellant and in favor of Defendant and Respondent. The court further found and adjudged, that in the event Plaintiff paid the amount of the lien, it was granted Judgment against the additional parties to the extent of the amount of the payment.

A Motion to Amend the Findings and Conclusions and to enter a new or different Judgment was, in most particulars, denied by the court.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks reversal of the Judgment in favor of Zions First National Bank and asks that Judgment be entered in its favor ordering a Reconveyance of the real property described in the Trust Deed; for a permanent Injunction restraining the bank from further attempts to foreclose its Trust Deed; and for attorney's fees.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The sequence of events giving rise to this litigation began November 18, 1968. Mr. Wayne Hintze, Vice-President and Manager of the Mortgage Loan Department of Zions First National Bank, made a loan to Johnson Land Company, a partnership composed of Clifton I. Johnson, Glendon E. Johnson and Franklin D. Johnson and Bar 70 Ranches, a Nevada corporation, and to Clifton I. Johnson, Franklin D. Johnson and Glendon E. Johnson, individually. A Trust Deed Note for \$150,000.00, with interest at ten (10%) percent per annum, was executed by the foregoing parties. (Ex. 3). To secure this Note, Bar 70 Ranches gave a Trust Deed (Ex. 4) on approximately 1100 acres of unimproved land on the Green River in Grand County, Utah, approximately six miles south of Green River, Utah. (See Plat Ex. 1).

Mr. Hintze was well acquainted with Franklin Johnson, having known him for many years, "since he was a tow-headed boy". (Tr. 149).

Almost from its inception, the loan was a problem loan. Payments were not made when due and demands for payment and collection efforts were continuous. There were never any principal payments made until 1974, when Appellant entered the picture. Interest payments, however, had been made, but not on a timely basis.

By 1973, Mr. Hintze and other bank personnel were writing letters to Mr. Johnson demanding payment. (Ex. 33-36-61). These demands and negotiations resulted in the preparation of

an Extension and Modification Agreement dated April 17, 1973. (Ex. 31). Evidently, that Agreement was not put into effect and a new Extension and Modification Agreement was entered into between the bank and the Johnson interests in August, 1973. (Ex. 35). The Extension Agreement called for the payment of \$75,000, on or before October 1, 1973. This payment was not made and on October 25, 1973, Mr. Hintze wrote to Franklin Johnson demanding the payment. (Ex. 36). On October 30, 1973, Mr. Franklin Johnson replied by letter stating he would need until December 7, 1973, to pay the \$75,000. (Ex. 37). This request was reluctantly agreed to by Mr. Hintze by letter dated November 24, 1973. (Ex. 39).

During the year 1973, Mr. Johnson was making a very determined effort either to sell property that he and his brothers owned or to refinance obligations owing on the property, including the indebtedness to Zions First National Bank, to put their financial situation in a more positive posture. To this end, he had arranged to undertake new and additional financing with Appellant United American Life. This involved restructuring a loan on properties in Ogden, Utah, in the amount of \$675,000, and an additional loan of \$185,000, on property involved in this lawsuit and property located in Sanpete County, Utah, and in the State of Colorado. The details of the transaction are set forth in Exhibit 45. This is a letter to Mr. Alton Lund, President of Title Insurance Agency of Utah, from United American Life containing instructions on how to handle the new financing package. The

Exhibit contains the following statement:

. . . your Title Insurance Binder Order No. 33743 which indicates, among other things, that there is a lien due the Zions First National Bank in the amount of one hundred and fifty thousand dollars. It is understood that this lien may be released upon payment of fifty thousand dollars to the Zions First National Bank.

Prior to the financing arrangement obtained by Franklin Johnson from Appellant, he had visited with Mr. Hintze and discussed his financial situation in detail. Mr. Hintze was well aware of his plight and was anxious to help if possible. (Tr. 149).

The understanding that Appellant relied upon relative to the payment of \$50,000 to obtain a release of the lien of Zions First National Bank, came from Franklin Johnson and his understanding came about as a result of discussions and negotiations he had with Mr. Wayne Hintze.

These negotiations are extremely important and will be discussed in detail at this point.

A meeting was held between Mr. Johnson and Mr. Hintze during the first part of December, 1973. Mr. Johnson testified as follows concerning that meeting:

- Q. Mr. Johnson, you filed an affidavit in this action, and I ask you to read paragraph 8 of that and then read it out loud if you will.
- A. Yes. I'll read the paragraph 8: "Over a period of some considerable time Affiant and Mr. Wayne Hintze had numerous discussions concerning the satisfaction of the promissory note. I informed Mr.

Hintze that it would not be possible to pay the note without securing new and additional financing, and that the party that we were negotiating with namely United American Life would require a first lien against the real property. After considerable discussion on the matter, Mr. Hintze on behalf of the bank in substance and effect stated that if we would pay \$50,000 on the principal of the obligation the bank would release its trust deed."

- Q. And when was that affidavit signed?
- A. 15th day of June, 1978.
- Q. And was that a true statement when it was made?
- A. Yes. I think there is one error. I think that the agreement was \$75,000 rather than \$50,000.
- Q. All right. Now, you were not asking Mr. Hintze to cancel the note for that amount of money, namely the \$75,000; is that correct?
- A. No. What we were trying to do was refinance the note and in effect make it a personal note.
- Q. All right. What you were asking for was a release of the lien that they had on the ranch property in Green River?
- A. Yes.
- Q. For their payment. And you indicate that you had an agreement with Mr. Hintze to that effect; is that right?
- A. Yes. I felt that we did. (Tr. 27).

The testimony of Mr. Hintze:

- Q. Can you recall any more of the specific details about this meeting with Frank Johnson on December 10th of '73?
- A. We were very anxious to assist Frank any way we could in getting this obligation taken care of. He

did indicate it was important to have this property released. And he then proposed that he could pay \$75,000 now and that he would arrange the other \$75,000 just as the memo said, through the commercial loan department. And when we got that money then we would be -- then we would release the mortgage, which would be a total payment of \$150,000.

- Q. Did you tell him that you would do anything to assist him in arranging for a loan of \$75,000 that was unsecured with the commercial loan department?
- A. No, I did not. I suggested that -- to Frank that he make that arrangement as soon as possible, because he knew Mr. Lang and Mr. Langdon and Mr. Bennett and after -- later that afternoon I did go down and talk to Mr. Bennett and request that he see Frank when he comes in, if there was any way that he could make the loan, it would be very helpful to Frank. (Tr. 134-135).

The testimony of Mr. Johnson says, in effect, that he had an agreement with the bank to release the lien for the payment of \$75,000 and to proceed with the remainder of the loan on an unsecured basis with Mr. Hintze and Mr. Hintze's department.

Mr. Hintze, on the other hand, says that no agreement was reached but he does acknowledge that it was necessary that Johnson have the lien released to secure the refinance package; that the promised payment of \$75,000 was discussed; and that, in fact, Mr. Hintze did talk to the Commercial Loan Department and told them that it would be very helpful to Mr. Johnson if the loan could be made.

The ambiguity or discrepancy in the testimony of both parties relates only to the manner in which the balance of the loan would be handled. Mr. Johnson was under the impression that Mr. Hintze would handle it in his department as an unsecured loan and Mr. Hintze was under the impression that Mr. Johnson would apply to the Commercial Loan Department of the bank for an unsecured loan. The \$75,000 payment was, in fact, made but a new unsecured Note was never signed. Of course, it would not have made sense to sign a new Note until the \$75,000 was actually paid and this was done at a later date.

The attention of the court is now directed to the activities of the third-parties in this transaction. As indicated, United American Life agreed to the refinancing package and forwarded to Title Insurance Agency of Utah the sum of \$155,931.81 with instructions for disbursement. (Ex. 45).

One of the instructions was to obtain a release of the lien to Zions First National Bank and record a new first lien in favor of Appellant. Mr. Reece Howell, an officer of Title Insurance Agency of Utah and an attorney, testified as to the mechanics of the closing with particular regard to the handling of the Zions' lien. Mr. Howell testified that his company had transacted a large amount of title business with Zions and that a custom existed between the two companies, whereby the Title Company would call the Loan Officer for a release figure on a particular secured loan; obtain the figure and then forward the payment check without immediately receiving the required

and expected Release of Mortgage or Reconveyance. After the bank had cleared their loan, and this would sometimes take several weeks or months, (Tr. 88), the Release or Reconveyance would be forwarded by the bank.

Mr. Howell testified that he called the Mortgage Department of Zions First National Bank to verify the figures of this loan as he did in the case of every transaction he had ever closed. On this point his testimony on cross-examination was clear and unequivocal. (Tr. 103).

Subsequent to obtaining verification of figures, Mr. Howell prepared a check and voucher for delivery to Zions First National Bank. The check and voucher are reproduced at this point in the Brief for ease of reference.

Escrow Account	PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT # 75	Title Insurance Agency Title Insurance — Abstracts — Escrows Salt Lake City, Utah January 25 1974		No. 28
	Pay to the Order of: ZIONS FIRST NATIONAL BANK, National Association			\$ 50,000.00
	EXACTLY 50,000 DOLLARS			
	To: BROADWAY — WEST TEMPLE OFFICE VALLEY BANK & TRUST CO. SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH			AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE <i>[Signature]</i> AUTHORIZED SIGNATURE <i>[Signature]</i>

TITLE INSURANCE AGENCY 80 WEST BROADWAY SALT LAKE CITY, UTAH		VOUCHER No. 28
ATTACHED CHECK IS IN SETTLEMENT OF ACCOUNTS LISTED HEREON. BEFORE DEPOSITING, DETACH THIS DUPLICATE OF VOUCHER AND RETAIN FOR YOUR RECORD. IF NOT CORRECT, RETURN.		
DATE	DESCRIPTION	AMOUNT
1/25/74	Payment in full of Trust Deed dated November 19, 1968, executed by Bar 70 Ranches, Inc. recorded November 20, 1968, as Entry No. _____, in Book 170, pages 198-200. Our Order No. 33773	\$50,000

Mr. George Robinson of Title Insurance Agency delivered the check and voucher directly to the office of Mr. Wayne Hintze at Zions First National Bank.

Mr. Hintze admitted receipt of the check and voucher, but his testimony concerning the handling of that item is vague and equivocal:

Q. All right. Let's follow it just one step further. You did actually have in your possession this check, Exhibit 75, before it was cashed?

A. Yes.

Q. And was the voucher attached?

A. I cannot swear to that. When I saw the check it was like this and I did not turn it over. I was not concerned what was on the voucher because in my mind it was the conversation with Frank that he could pay \$75,000, and that he would arrange for the other \$75,000 through the commercial loan department. Now, I assumed that's what he was doing. And so the check was -- my instructions to the office was to hold this check until Frank brought in the rest of the money.

Q. Where is a reference on that check to Frank Johnson?

A. There is no reference to it.

Q. Then how do you equate that with \$50,000 coming from Frank Johnson?

A. At the time it was given to me by a representative of the title insurance, either personally or given to my secretary in an envelope from Title Insurance Agency, one or the other, which indicated on it a Bar 70 Ranch -- I'm not denying -- Unfortunately I have to admit that voucher was attached to the check, presumably because it was in our loan file. It's

embarrassing to admit it was there. I've said I have no recollection of that because I specifically do not remember reading that voucher on the check until after this lawsuit started. (Emphasis added.) (Tr. 153-154).

How he knew the check from Title Insurance Agency referred to Bar 70 Ranches or Franklin Johnson is never satisfactorily explained. Mr. Hintze denies reading the voucher portion of the check until this litigation was commenced and yet knew at the time the check was received that it applied to the Bar 70 loan. It must be noted that only on the voucher is the name Bar 70 mentioned. This cannot be reconciled. Furthermore, Mr. Hintze testified that had he read the voucher at the time the check was received, he would have handed it back to the person who delivered it as unacceptable. (Tr. 156). What happened, however, is that Mr. Hintze gave the check to his office manager with instructions to hold it until Mr. Johnson brought in the balance of the money. (Tr. 156).

Shortly thereafter, the bank cashed the check, retained the proceeds and applied the amount to the Bar 70 Note.

Mr. Hintze was also aware that a severe problem had been created for Title Insurance Agency of Utah sometime between January 25, 1974, and the date that the bank received the additional \$25,000 from Mr. Johnson (June, 1974). Mr. Hintze had a conversation with Mr. Alton Lund the President of the Title Company. Mr. Hintze's testimony on this point follows:

Q. When Mr. Lund spoke to you

concerning a release or a reconveyance of this trust deed, wasn't it apparent to you that he was looking to get that from you?

A. Well, I'd have to say if I'd given it to him he would have been very happy; but I told him I couldn't give it to him because we had not received the money from Frank Johnson.

Q. But had the \$50,000 from his company just been a payment on account, there would have been no reason for him to question you about a release, would there?

A. No.

Q. So you knew -- you must have known there was a problem here by that time, did you not?

A. I did. I would say yes. (Tr. 164).

Nonetheless, the bank retained the \$50,000 from Title Insurance Agency. (Tr. 165).

Thereafter, Mr. Franklin Johnson paid the sum of \$25,000 to the bank in June, 1974, and this represented the full \$75,000 payment on the Note. There the matter remained until 1978, when the bank began foreclosure proceedings by private Trustee's Sale. This litigation resulted.

To briefly summarize, a loan made by Zions First National Bank to Bar 70 Ranches in 1968, secured by unimproved acreage in Grand County, Utah, became delinquent almost from its inception; by 1973, the collection problem was acute. Franklin Johnson and his brothers, who were the owners and principals in Bar 70 Ranches, were unable to pay the Note and the likelihood of collection by

the bank was doubtful. Mr. Wayne Hintze, the bank officer who made the loan, was well acquainted with Franklin Johnson and had known of his financial problems for some years. He was anxious to help if possible.

Mr. Johnson incurred and obtained new and additional financing and refinancing on various parcels of property in January, 1974. During that time, he had a meeting with Mr. Hintze and asked that Mr. Hintze accept \$75,000 on the principal of the Bar 70 Note, release the Trust Deed and handle the balance on an unsecured basis. He felt that he had an agreement with Mr. Hintze when he left the meeting. Mr. Hintze denied an agreement, but his Memo to the file (Ex. 41) does not indicate a denial, but only that Mr. Johnson would apply to the Commercial Loan Department at the bank for an unsecured loan on the balance. These two principals apparently differ only on the question as to which department of the bank would handle the balance of the loan on an unsecured basis.

Approximately 45 days after Mr. Johnson and Mr. Hintze met, a check representing the funds of United American Life, in the amount of \$50,000, was delivered to Mr. Hintze by Title Insurance Agency of Utah, as United American Life's agent; the voucher on the check clearly and unmistakably spelled out the terms for its acceptance; namely, that it paid in full the Trust Deed given by Bar 70 Ranches.¹ It

¹It should be clearly understood that no one contends that the \$50,000 check paid the loan in full; only that it bought a Reconveyance of the Trust Deed.

is impossible to believe that Mr. Hintze failed to note the contents of the voucher; that is the only way he could have identified the transaction. Admitting that he would have returned the check had he read the voucher, he nonetheless held it, the bank cashed it; knowing that it created a critical problem for Title Insurance Agency and retained the money, never offering to return it.

The evidence cited above is not unique in the field of commercial transactions involving financing arrangements and title insurance companies. The legal principles of accord and satisfaction; payment by a third-party; equitable estoppel; and conditional delivery of a check all have application to this factual situation and are interrelated.

For clarity, the points will be discussed separately. Because of the similarity of the applicable rules, some repetition is unavoidable.

POINT I THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN NOT FINDING "ACCORD AND SATISFACTION".

The acceptance by the bank of the \$50,000 check and the additional \$25,000 payment resulted in an accord and satisfaction, obligating the bank to Reconvey the Trust property.

The Supreme Court of Utah has described an accord and satisfaction as "a method of discharging a contract, or settling a claim arising from a contract, by substituting for such agreement or claim an agreement for the satisfaction thereof, and the execution of the substituted agreement." Cannon vs. Stevens School of Business, 560 P.2d 1383 (Utah, 1977).

This court has on several occasions stated that there are four essential requirements for a valid accord and satisfaction: (1) proper subject matter, (2) competent parties, (3) an assent or meeting of the minds, and (4) a consideration given for the accord. Sugarhouse Finance Co. vs. Anderson, 610 P.2d 1369 (Utah, 1980), and Ralph A. Badger and Co. vs. Fidelity Building and Loan Association, 75 P.2d 669 (Utah, 1938). It is obvious that the subject matter, in this case a Trust Deed, is a proper subject matter for an accord and it is also obvious that the parties, namely Franklin Johnson, Zions First National Bank, Title Insurance Agency of Utah, and United American Life, are competent. Only the last two requirements, namely assent and consideration, require in-depth analysis.

A. Zions Bank assented to the accord.

It is a traditional rule of law that in order for an accord and satisfaction to be enforceable, there must be an assent or meeting of the minds of the parties. 1 Am Jur 2d, Accord and Satisfaction, Sec. 11, p. 309. In determining whether there has been an assent, the Utah Court looks at the total circumstances of a case. See Tate, Inc. vs. Little America Refining Co., 535 P.2d 1228 (1977), and Hintze vs. Seach, 20 Ut.2d 275, 437 P.2d 202 (1968).

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