1981

United American Life Insurance Company, A Corporation v. Zions First National Bank, A National Association, Franklin D. Johnson And Kathleen Johnson, His Wife; Glendon E. Johnson And Bobette Johnson, His Wife; Clifton I. Johnson; Johnson Land Company, A Partnership; And Bar 70 Ranches, Inc., A Nevada Corporation : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiff-appellant United American Life has reargued all of the facts as though the trial court found in its favor, to-wit: that there was an agreement made by Wayne Hintze for and on behalf of Zions First National Bank (herein

"Bank") that it would agree to release its Trust Deed lien on the Bar-70 Ranch for \$50,000.00 when the unpaid balance on the loan was \$150,000.00. The Court, after submission of Findings of Fact in May (R.132), Objections to Findings of Fact filed by appellant (R.148), then final Amended Findings of Fact, signed over plaintiff's objections on June 17, 1980 (R.142-147), found that there was no agreement, no meeting of the minds; that the only agreement was that the Bank would release its Trust Deed lien only in the event it received payment in full.

#### FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On November 13, 1968, Bar 70 Ranches, Inc., a Nevada corporation and Franklin D. Johnson, Glendon E. Johnson and Clifton I. Johnson borrowed the sum of \$150,000.00 from Zions First National Bank, which loan was secured by a Trust Deed constituting a first lien on real estate in Grand County, Utah (herein called the "Bar 70 Ranches" and more particularly described in the Trust Deed Exhibit 4), together with all water rights, including the certificates and applications of appropriation as described in the Trust Deed.

2. The loan was also made upon the parties executing a Purchase and Sale Agreement dated November 18, 1968, whereby United American Life Insurance Company of Denver, Colorado (herein called "United American Life"), agreed to purchase the loan from the Bank on November 1, 1970. The commitment of United American Life was extended for another 12 months by letter dated March 9, 1971.

3. On November 24, 1971, the Purchase and Sale Agreement whereby United American Life agreed to purchase the loan was substituted by a Purchase

and Sale Agreement executed by Howard Life Insurance Company, a Colorado corporation. The balance on the loan still remained at \$150,000.00.

4. In April, 1973, and August, 1973, the borrower executed Extension and Modification Agreements which changed the rate of interest and extended the time of payment until July 1, 1978, when the entire balance was to become due and payable.

5. Commencing August 6, 1973, and continuing through December 10, 1973, Franklin D. Johnson, the principal borrower, and Wayne S. Hintze, Senior Vice President of Zions First National Bank, exchanged correspondence regarding payment of \$75,000.00 on the loan and amortizing the balance of \$75,000.00 over a five-year period. On December 10, 1973, Franklin D. Johnson visited Wayne S. Hintze in his office, and Mr. Hintze made a memorandum of their discussions, which reads as follows:

Today Mr. Franklin Johnson indicated that he would be able to pay \$75,000 on the principal of the subject loan reducing it to \$75,000, that then he would ask that the balance of the \$75,000 be taken over by our Commercial Loan Department with the understanding that they would pay \$25,000 within 30 days and the balance of \$50,000 within a 90-day period on a personal loan to he and Glendon Johnson.

/s/ Wayne S. Hintze, Vice President  
(Exhibit 41)

Mr. Hintze agreed that Zions First National Bank would release its Trust Deed lien on the Bar 70 Ranches property when and if the Bank received full payment.

6. Sometime in December, 1973, Mr. Franklin D. Johnson and United American Life agreed to a refinancing package wherein United American Life agreed



to advance an additional \$185,000.00 in addition to a prior loan of \$675,000.00 which it had with Johnson Land Company on property known as the East Oaks Company, Weber County, Utah, provided it be given additional collateral on three parcels of property, including a first lien on the Bar 70 Ranches property. In January, 1974, United American Life mailed a check of \$152,816.98 to Title Insurance Agency of Lake City, Utah, with instructions to pay \$50,000.00 to Zions First National Bank. By letter dated January 2, 1974, United American Life advised Title Insurance Agency that " . . . there is a lien due to Zions First National Bank in the amount of \$150,000.00. It is understood that this lien may be released upon payment of \$50,000.00 to the Zions First National Bank." On January 23, 1974, a Trust Deed executed by Glendon E. Johnson, Franklin D. Johnson and their wives to United American Life covering the Bar 70 Ranches property in Grand County, Utah, was recorded by Title Insurance Agency acting for and on behalf of United American Life. The Trust Deed was dated December 28, 1973. Title Insurance Agency wrote a title insurance policy insuring that the Trust Deed lien of United American Life was a first lien upon said property, which title policy was effective January 23, 1974.

7. On January 25, 1974, Title Insurance Agency drew a check in the sum of \$50,000.00 payable to Zions First National Bank, which contained the following language on the voucher portion of the check:

Printed: Attached check is in settlement of accounts listed hereon, before depositing detach this DUPLICATE VOUCHER and retain for your records. If not correct, return.

Typewritten: Payment in full of Trust Deed dated  
November 19, 1968, executed by Bar 70  
Ranches, Inc., recorded November 20, 1968,  
as Entry No. \_\_\_\_\_, in Book 170, Pages  
198-200.

At an unknown date subsequent to January 25, 1974, Mr. George Robinson of Title Insurance Agency went to the office of Wayne S. Hintze at Zions First National Bank, Head Office, One South Main Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, and delivered said check either to Mr. Hintze or his secretary stating that this was for the Johnson deal. There was no accompanying letter with the check, nor any request made to Mr. Wayne Hintze to deliver a reconveyance of the Trust Deed of Zions First National Bank against the property.

8. Wayne S. Hintze examined the check but neglected to note at that time the language contained in the voucher portion of the check. He was surprised the check was for \$50,000.00 instead of \$75,000.00 which was discussed with Franklin D. Johnson on December 10, 1973. Mr. Hintze instructed his subordinates to hold the check and wait and see if Franklin D. Johnson brought in additional funds.

9. The check for \$50,000.00 was deposited by mistake by some person other than Wayne S. Hintze, acting for the Bank on March 1, 1974, with a stamped endorsement and no personal endorsement on the back.

10. On June 12, 1974, an additional \$25,000.00 was paid by Franklin D. Johnson, which payment was applied on the loan.

11. The Court finds that there was no meeting of the minds between Franklin D. Johnson and Wayne S. Hintze that the Trust Deed would be reconveyed

for the sum of \$50,000.00 or for the sum of \$75,000.00; that Mr. Hintze at all times was only willing to reconvey the Trust Deed lien with the understanding that the real estate loan of \$150,000.00 would be paid in full.

12. On December 21, 1976, Johnson Land Company by Franklin D. Johnson conveyed the Bar 70 Ranches property to United American Life, which Warranty Deed was recorded January 4, 1977. On said date the principal balance owing by Johnson to Zions First National Bank was the sum of \$83,906.23. The Warranty Deed did not refer to or except the prior Trust Deed lien of Zions First National Bank. On or about January 4, 1977, Title Insurance Agency wrote an owner's policy of title insurance insuring that United American Life owned the premises without reference to the existing Trust Deed lien of Zions First National Bank.

13. On or about January 4, 1977, the officers and agents of Title Insurance Agency knew that the Trust Deed lien of Zions First National Bank was still of record but no written demand or request was made for the reconveyance of said Trust Deed lien.

14. The loan became delinquent and on March 31, 1978, Zions First National Bank recorded its Notice of Default against the Bar 70 Ranches property which foreclosure was halted by the Temporary Restraining Order applied for by United American Life and granted by this Court upon oral argument heard June 2, 1978. The balance of \$83,906.23 with accrued interest of \$31,850.00 and late charges of \$12,515.63 to the date of trial and the attorney's fees incurred to date

the sum of \$8,200.00 have not been paid. The Court finds that the amount of attorney's fees incurred to date are reasonable (R.142-146).

---

The plaintiff states in its Brief that the loan was a problem loan, and argues that there should be some kind of an estoppel enforced in favor of the plaintiff and against the Bank. Contrary to plaintiff's assertions, the loan by the Bank was well-secured by 1,000 acres of land (Bar-70 Ranches on the Green River), plus 22 second feet of water (Certificate for 10 c.f.s.; Application of Appropriation for 12 c.f.s.). (See Exhibit 4 and Tr.31,35.) The Bank had a first Trust Deed lien on collateral worth a great deal more in value than \$150,000.00. The Bank did not want to foreclose, and Wayne Hintze testified that he was anxious if possible to help Mr. Johnson (Tr.149). The agreement between the Bank and Frank Johnson was clearly set forth in five written exhibits, Nos. 34, 36, 37, 39 and 41. The background to these letters and the memorandum written by Hintze on December 10, 1973, is that the loan for \$150,000.00 had been a two-year loan with no provisions for monthly amortization (Exhibit 3). From November, 1968, to March 1, 1974 (5-1/2 years), no principal reduction had been made on the loan (Tr.132). All that Frank Johnson had been able to do was to pay the interest on the loan. The loan by the Bank was originally based upon a Purchase and Sale Agreement by plaintiff to buy the loan from the Bank (Exhibit No. 5). Plaintiff reneged on this commitment (Exhibit 18,20) -- "they had made so many commitments all over the western part of the United States that they were broke" (Tr.25). Then Frank Johnson bought a project known as the East Oaks building in the mouth of Ogden

Canyon from plaintiff (Tr. 48) because he was told that this would help him get some money to finance the Terracor development of Bloomington. Johnson could not make the payments to plaintiff on the East Oaks property, because the property later purchased by Terracor in Stansbury (Tooele County) had turned out to be a very tough property, and United American had over-committed itself and could not live up to any of its commitments (Tr. 50).

Frank Johnson testified as follows:

Q. Now, I am aware -- isn't it a fact that there are mortgages finally on the Stansbury project that total \$28 million?

A. Oh, I'm sure there is. Yes. Well, I'm not positive. When I left Terracor -- when we reached a settlement in Terracor in 1972, at the end of '72, there was approximately \$11 million that had been put into Stansbury.

Q. And while Bloomington was a success, Stansbury turned out to be quite a disaster?

A. Yes. People did not want to live there.

Q. All right. Then wasn't it a fact that you also had some discussions with Wayne Hintze about how you were doing overall on these other projects?

A. Yes, we did.

Q. That Wayne Hintze knew that you were heavily involved in real estate development and had loans at many banks in many different insurance companies that you obtained through your brother, Glendon?

A. That's right. I think Wayne was -- Yes. I think that's right. (Tr. 42; emphasis added)

It is clear from the evidence that Hintze knew that Frank Johnson

very very heavily indebted on many loans at other banks and insurance companies. And Frank Johnson knew that Hintze knew of his financial predicament. Frank Johnson's financial difficulty and the Bank's knowledge of Frank's predicament is the reason that Frank did not ask for a reconveyance, without full payment on his Trust Deed Note, and why he never applied at the Commercial Loan Department of the Bank to obtain an unsecured loan. It is the reason why Wayne Hintze testified: "Q. But he needed the release then, did he not? A. Well, he couldn't get that because he hadn't paid the money. No way do we release when we've still got a loan outstanding" (Tr.162).

Thus, in August, 1973, Johnson wrote to Hintze that he was selling a piece of property in September so "we could reduce the amount owed on the Green River ranch by \$75,000.00. We would then be able to make a pay-out on the ranch over a five year period" (Exhibit 34). No mention was made of any release of the Bank's Trust Deed lien on the Green River ranch. On the basis of this request Hintze agreed to release the commitment of Howard Life Insurance Company (Exhibit 36). This was a successive replacement agreement to buy the loan from the Bank (Exhibit 24). Johnson had procured the Howard Life commitment to buy the \$150,000.00 loan at the Bank, after United American Life reneged and failed to perform on its original commitment (Exhibit 5). Johnson replied to Hintze on October 30, 1973, that the sale of our Ogden property was not yet concluded (meaning East Oaks -- purchased from plaintiff) and asked for "an extension of the period of the time until December 7 to pay the remaining \$75,000.00" (Exhibit 37). Hintze replied on November 14, 1973, that the Bank would agree to a

\$75,000.00 principal reduction and then Frank "would start a regular monthly payment of \$1,594.00 . . . This would then pay the loan in full within a five-year period after the \$75,000 has been applied." Thus, there were to letters written by Johnson (Exhibits 34 and 37) and two letters written by Hintze (Exhibits 36 and 37) none of which mentioned any release of the Bank's Trust Deed lien for partial payment only. All of the letters led up to the critical conference between Frank Johnson and Wayne Hintze on December 10, 1973.

Wayne Hintze made a memorandum of that conversation which is as follows (Exhibit 41):

MEMORANDUM

December 10, 1973

TO: FILE  
FROM: Wayne S. Hintze, Vice President  
SUBJECT: Bar 70 Ranches

Today Mr. Franklin Johnson indicated that he would be able to pay \$75,000 on the principle [sic] of the subject loan reducing it to \$75,000, that then he would ask that the balance of the \$75,000 be taken over by our Commercial Loan Department with the understanding that they would pay \$25,000 within 30 days and the balance of \$50,000 within a 90 day period on a personal loan to he and Glendon Johnson.

/s/ Wayne S. Hintze, Vice President

The loan balance at that time was still \$150,000.00. It is clear that Frank Johnson, by asking that the balance of \$75,000.00 be taken over by our Bank's) Commercial Loan Department was not requesting a release of the Trust's) lien from the Real Estate Doan department for less than full payment. The trial) found:

Mr. Hintze agreed that Zions First National Bank would release its Trust Deed lien on the Bar 70 Ranches property when and if the Bank received full payment. (Finding of Fact No. 5, R.144)

Trial was seven years later in July, 1980. Memories had dimmed but not the content of letters and memos. Frank Johnson testified that plaintiff was becoming very edgy because they could see we had financial difficulties and were having a hard time paying (for the East Oaks property) (Tr.51), so Johnson and plaintiff worked out a deal to refinance the East Oaks project at the mouth of Ogden Canyon and give plaintiff additional collateral in a Sanpete County property, and in property called LaRue in Colorado, and they wanted a first mortgage on the property at Green River, Utah (Tr.51). Plaintiff wanted a first lien on the Bar 70 Ranches . . . and we agreed to try and get it for them (Tr.52). See the details of this Loan Modification Agreement in Exhibit 44. Johnson stated on his direct examination that " . . . the conversation (with Wayne Hintze) I think was ambiguous. That was what I stated and I cannot recall totally what Mr. Hintze stated" (Tr.26).

Frank Johnson did not testify that he told anyone at the Title Insurance Agency that he had an agreement with the Bank that they would release the lien upon payment of \$75,000.00 or \$50,000.00, or any conversation at all. The title company did not offer testimony that Johnson told them the Bank would release its lien. The title company got their information from plaintiff in a letter dated January 2, 1974 (Exhibit 45), which states cryptically:

. . . there is a lien due the Zions First National Bank in the amount of \$150,000. It is understood that this lien may be released upon payment of \$50,000 to the Zions First National Bank.

No one called or wrote to Wayne Hintze to confirm whether this was true or not.



The Trust Deed by Frank and Glendon Johnson to plaintiff to secure a new adv of \$185,000.00 had already been executed on December 28, 1973 (Exhibit 43).

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